1978

Breitling Brothers Construction Inc. v. Utah Golden Spikers, Inc. and the State of Utah : Brief of Defendant-Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff did work at the Utah State Fairgrounds, not under a contract with the State, but under a contract with the Utah Golden Spikers, for which Plaintiff claims payments from the State of Utah under the Bonding Statute or because of unjust enrichment.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The lower Court, Bryant H. Croft, District Judge, found the State liable under the provisions of the Bonding Act 14-1-7 UCA Ann. and in quantum meruit because the State was unjustly enriched by Plaintiff's work.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant, State of Utah, seeks an Order reversing the Order of the Court below and finding Plaintiff has no cause of action against Defendant, State of Utah.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In March of 1976, the Utah Golden Spikers, possessing a National Soccer League franchise, came to Salt Lake City and began negotiations with Milton L. Weilenmann, Executive Director of the Department of Developmental Services and Hugh C. Bringhurst, Director of the Division of Expositions for leasing of the State Fairgrounds grandstand area for use in playing soccer games in national soccer competition. (R.110,111,139). Although an agreement was prepared and signed by Mr. Weilenmann and Mr. Bringhurst, it was never approved by the Budget Officer or the Director of Finance of the State and was not signed by the Golden Spikers. (Ex. P.1, R.120).

On March 30, 1976, a representative of the Golden Spikers requested Mr. Bringhurst allow the Spikers to proceed with construction of the soccer field, but Mr. Bringhurst said "we can't give you permission." (R.158).

Notwithstanding the lack of an agreement, Weyher Construction Company, apparently at the direction of the Spikers, and without State authority, tore down a fence at

the Fairgrounds and tore up part of the race track in the grandstand area of the Fairgrounds so it could no longer be used as a race track. Mr. Bringhurst stopped the work as soon as he became aware of the destruction, but the usability of the race track was already destroyed. (R.158-161, 164, 165.)

About April 10, 1976, the Plaintiff commenced his work at the Fairgrounds, which included destruction of the balance of the race track, removal of the race track asphalt, delivery of fill material and top soil, preparation of the site for laying turf and equipment rental. (R.128-131, Ex. 3P). There was no contact between the State and Plaintiff or its agents before beginning or while they were doing the work. (R.130). The work was completed about May 10, 1976. (R.132). After completion of Plaintiff's work, the Golden Spikers played several soccer games on the newly installed field and Mr. Bringhurst gave assistance in promoting the games. (R.166,167).

Plaintiff did work in the sum of \$11,874.49 for which it billed the Golden Spikers, Inc. (R.130,131). The Spikers lost their National Soccer franchise, became defunct and Plaintiff's bill was not paid by them. (R.108).

Mr. Bringhurst and Mr. Weilenmann allowed construction of the soccer field even though they knew a contract had not been completed. (R.125). At some point in time during construction

the Governor became aware of the construction of the soccer field. (R.125, 126, 191).

Mr. Breitling never saw a contract between the Golden Spikers and the State, never made inquiry from the State officers as to whether or not such a contract existed, did not get permission from the State to do the work and made no inquiry as to why Weyher Construction pulled off the job and until the lawsuit was filed, did not look to the State for payment. (R.132-134).

Destruction of the race track cost the State about \$20,000 per year in lost revenue and the State had no maintenance obligations or expenses on the race track. Revenue from the soccer field was insignificant and watering and maintenance costs the State about \$1,000 per year. (R.184-187). The net economic difference to the State as a result of the destruction of the race track and the construction of the soccer field is a deficit of about \$21,000 per year to the State. The soccer field, as installed, was not safe to play on because it was not properly drained, graded, leveled or sodded. The field must be redone to make it safely usable. (R.156,157,187-187).

ARGUMENT

The issue in this appeal is whether the State can be bound by the unauthorized acts of its employees under an estoppel

theory of unjust enrichment, or whether the State can only be bound in the manner prescribed by the legislature.

I. THE STATE CANNOT BE LIABLE UNDER THE BONDING STATUTE ABSENT A FORMAL CONTRACT.

Section 14-1-5 UCA, under which Plaintiff claims provides in pertinent part, with underlining added for emphasis:

"Before any contract for the construction...of any... improvement of the State of Utah...is awarded to any person, he shall furnish to the State...bonds which shall become binding upon the award of the contract to such person."

Section 14-1-7 UCA provides:

"Any public body subject to this act which shall fail or neglect to obtain the delivery of the payment bond as required by this act, shall, upon demand, itself promptly make payment to all persons who have supplied materials or performed labor in the prosecution of the work under the contract, and any such creditor shall have a direct right of action upon his account against such public body in any court having jurisdiction in the county in which the contract was to be performed and executed which action shall be commenced within one year after the furnishing of materials or labor."

No express contract was entered into between the State and the Spikers. Does an implied contract meet the requirements of an "awarded contract." We submit it does not. The very word "award" means to "confer or bestow upon as a result of a decision. To determine or decide after careful consideration." Websters International Unabridged Dictionary, Second Edition. In the case of Jackson v State, 142 NE 1, the Court held "awarded to" meant "entered into with all legal formalities." We submit that is what our legislature meant when it enacted the bonding statute cited above.

The implied contract claimed by Plaintiff cannot bind the State under the Bonding Statute for the further reasons set out in the next point.

Had Plaintiff been careful, he could have made sure a "contract was awarded" the Golden Spikers before he committed his resources.

II. RESTITUTION OR UNJUST ENRICHMENT IS NOT APPROPRIATE IN THIS CASE.

While it is true that Mr. Bringhurst and Mr. Weilenmann carried on extensive negotiations looking toward the execution and award of a contract, the contract was never executed by the Golden Spikers and was never executed by an officer of the State of Utah authorized to enter into such contract.

Section 63-2-1 sets up the Department of Finance to assist the Governor in his duties as Chief Executive Officer and describes the intent of the legislature to be that:

"The Department shall define budgetary functions relating to the approval and allocation of funds, budgetary control of funds...approval of proposed expenditures for the purchase of supplies and services and prescribing other budgetary functions under the constitutional authority of the State's Chief Executive to transact all executive business for the State..."

63-2-2 sets up the Director of Finance as the State's chief fiscal officer and purchasing agent. Section 63-3-23 provides:

"The Director of Finance shall exercise the powers and perform the duties relating to the purchase of all supplies, materials, equipment and services required in the administration of any department of the state, the administration of central purchasing and the procurement system for the departments of the state and the exercise of

inventory control over all departments."

Section 64-1-4 provides:

"Whenever the needs of a state institution require a building to be repaired or erected or any work amounting to more than \$1,000 to be done, the governing board of such institution, unless otherwise provided by law, shall advertise for at least 10 days in some newspaper published in the state and having general circulation therein, for sealed proposals for repairing or erecting such building or performing such work, in accordance with plans and specifications to be had at the office of the board; provided, that repairs or construction contemplating an expenditure of \$8,000 or more shall be under the direction of the Utah State Building Board."

In a contract for the obtaining of services and supplies as is claimed here, the Director of Finance, only, has the authority to bind the State.

65 AmJur Public Works §153 states very well the law on this subject:

"It is well established that no recovery can be had by a contractor for the construction of a public improvement without compliance with provisions of the law requiring letting of such contracts upon competitive bidding, even though such contract is duly executed and signed and the work has been executed in accordance with its terms. This is true even though the public body has received the benefits of the performance.

These provisions exist to protect citizen taxpayers from unjust, ill-considered or extortionate contracts, or those showing favoritism, and if the public body is suffered to disregard them and the other party permitted to recover upon an implied contract, such provisions can always be evaded and set at naught. To depart from these principles would be to open the door to abuses and practices fraught with danger to the welfare of the citizens and taxpayers of municipalities and political subdivisions of the state."

As was stated by the Court in Tobin v Sundance, 17 P.2d

666:

"These provisions exist to protect citizen taxpayers from unjust, ill considered or extortionate contracts or for those showing favoritism and if the public body is to disregard them and the other party permitted to recover on implied contracts, such provisions can always be evaded and set at naught. To depart from these principles would be to open the door to abuse and practices fraught with the danger to the welfare of citizens and taxpayers of municipalities and political subdivisions of the state."

As was further said in Carolina National Bank v State,

38 SE 629:

"The doctrine of equitable estoppel has no application to a sovereign state...The state can only act under its constitution and through its legislative enactments pursuant thereto, and can only ratify in the manner in which it could originally authorize; and if it could be estopped to assert the truth, the effect might be to fix upon the state responsibilities in conflict with its constitution and laws."

Two interesting cases where services were performed, the benefits were obtained and recovery was denied are as follows: Aetna Insurance Co. v O'Malley, 125 SW 2d 1164; Mullin v State, 446 P.670.

Our Utah Court has spoken collaterally on this subject in one instance only which I was able to locate. In the case of Petty v Borg, 106 Ut.5 524, 150 P.2d 776, the Court held:

"The federal courts have held without exception that the United States...is not bound or estopped by the acts of such officers or agents not within the scope of their authority..."

Absent the strictness governing expenditures by the State, the Plaintiff still does not have an enforceable claim.

Section 110 of the Restatement of Restitution provides:

"A person who has conferred a benefit upon another as the performance of a contract with a third person, it not entitled to restitution from the other merely because of the failure of performance by the third person..."

See also 66 AmJur 2nd, Restitution and Implied Contracts §16 to the same effect.

That is precisely what has happened in this case. The Golden Spikers and Plaintiff entered into a contract for work at the Fair. Plaintiff did work pursuant to the contract with the Spikers. The Spikers did not pay. The State of Utah, the third person, who has had claimed a benefit conferred upon it, was not in any way privy to the contract between the Spikers and the Plaintiff. There was no evidence that it was aware of such a contract. The only showing that was made is that the work was done without State authority but without objection of State officials over a period of nearly a month.

Even if a cause of action for unjust enrichment were made out, there is no evidence that there was a benefit in an economic manner to the State of Utah as a result of the activities of Plaintiff. The State of Utah was receiving substantial revenues from the Race Track operator. It had virtually no expense. With the unauthorized destruction of the race track, the race track revenue terminated. Since that time there has been no revenue generated from the

grandstand or the aborted soccer field. Indeed, there has been a substantial increase in expenditure because of the watering and care required of the turf. The construction of the field was also inadequate for the purpose.

The general rule is that the damages are measured according to the benefit received by the one unjustly enriched not the cost to the performer. 66 AmJur Restitution and Implied Contracts §28, Restatement of Restitution §155.

CONCLUSION

This case presents a difficult balancing of equity for the Court. The Plaintiff has clearly suffered damage because it has expended services and supplied materials for which it has not been paid. This is always painful. A careful contractor would have made sure the Golden Spikers had been awarded a contract by the State. Then he would have been secured under the Bonding Statute. He did not do so. If the Court rules against the Plaintiff, and reverses the Trial Court, the contractor will be out his money. The precedent will be set and contractors will know they must be sure a contract has been properly awarded if they are to recover under the Bonding Statute. They have in their control the ability to avoid this loss.

If this Court upholds the Trial Court, the people of the State of Utah through their duly constituted legislature, will have lost a limitation they intended to impose on all officers and employees of the State with respect to the

expenditure of their funds. With these statutory safeguards having been set aside, a precedent will be set that the deep pocket of the State can be reached through inaction or maybe even collusion of its unauthorized officers. The people of the State do not have in their control a way of safeguarding loss if it cannot be done through the legislature by limiting the manner in which a contract is finalized.

It is submitted in conclusion that a contractor can protect himself adequately against the unfortunate results of loss in a case such as this. The people of the State, however, cannot protect themselves against unauthorized expenditures if the safeguards and limitations established by the legislature are set aside.

The judgment of the Trial Court should therefor be reversed and this action should be dismissed as to the State.