1978

Breitling Brothers Construction Inc. v. Utah Golden Spikers, Inc. and the State of Utah : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE STATE OF UTAH IS LIABLE TO THE PLAINTIFF UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF 14-1-7, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED (1953), AS AMENDED.

The Appellant-State of Utah asserts in its Brief that a contract for the improvements constructed at the State Fairgrounds was not "awarded" to the Golden Spikers within the meaning of the Section 14-1-5, Utah Code Annotated because no express contract was entered into between the State of Utah and the Golden Spikers, and for the further reason that the Division of Expositions and the Department of Developmental Services failed to comply with statutes governing expenditures by the State, specifically Section 63-2-1, Section 63-2-2, and Section 64-1-4, Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended. The position of the State of Utah set forth above is not supported by the law or the facts involved in this matter.

The Division of Expositions of which Hugh C. Bringham was the Director had the authority to enter into contracts for the purpose of leasing property located within the boundaries of the State Fairgrounds. Such authority is derived from 64-4-7.5, Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended, which provides:

"...The Division of Expositions shall have the authority to use and to lease the property of the Division during any portion of the interval between the holding of annual or biannual exhibitions for private stock exhibitions, shows, racing meets, and other legitimate purposes, upon terms and conditions to be prescribed by the Division. All monies received from such leases shall be paid to the State Treasurer for deposit in the general fund."

Presumably, under this authority, a portion of the State Fairgrounds, upon which the race track that was partially removed by the Golden Spikers, had been leased to a previous lessee, and at the lessee's own expense, the race track was installed in consideration for the lessee paying to the State of Utah a smaller rental fee. It was the intention of the representatives of the State of Utah that this same transaction would be followed with the Golden Spikers and that the Golden Spikers would install the soccer field at their own expense in consideration for a smaller rental fee. Again, after the State's venture with the Golden Spikers failed, the State entered into a similar

transaction with a professional rodeo franchise.

Prior to the time that the Golden Spikers commenced installing the soccer field at the State Fairgrounds, Mr. Bringhurst as well as William G. Gibbs of the Attorney General's Office were advised that it would cost approximately Twenty Thousand Dollars (\$20,000.00) to install the soccer field, and with this knowledge, Milton L. Weilenmann, Hugh C. Bringhurst, and William G. Gibbs signed Exhibit 1P which, according to the testimony of Hugh C. Bringhurst, was intended to be the final agreement between the State of Utah and the Golden Spikers. Although it appears that the Golden Spikers never signed Exhibit 1P, after it was signed by representatives of the State of Utah, the Golden Spikers were allowed to employ subcontractors to install the soccer field, and the soccer field was installed with the knowledge of Mr. Bringhurst, Mr. Weilenmann, William G. Gibbs of the Attorney General's Office, and Governor Rampton. Mr. Bringhurst even assisted and supplied the Golden Spikers with tools for the purpose of laying the lawn on the soccer field. Mr. Bringhurst promoted the soccer games at the State Fairgrounds and the State of Utah received income as a result of the soccer games that were played at the State Fairgrounds. The State of Utah authorized the improvements at the State Fairgrounds and accepted the benefits of the improvements installed at the State Fairgrounds.

In spite of the facts set forth above, the State of Utah now asserts that there was not an express contract awarded to the Golden Spikers to install the improvements at the State Fairgrounds within the meaning of Section 14-1-5, Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended. Plaintiff-Respondent submits that the facts involved in this case clearly show that the State of Utah awarded to the Golden Spikers a contract to install improvements at the State Fairgrounds. An express contract may be either written or oral. Express contracts are those in which the terms of the agreement are fully and openly incorporated at the time the contracts are entered into, while implied contracts are such as arised by legal inference and upon principals of reason and justice from certain facts, or where there is substantial evidence showing that the parties intended to make a contract. (McDonald v. Thompson, 184 U S 71, 46 L ed. 437, 22 S Ct. 297.)

The terms of the agreement between the State of Utah and the Golden Spikers are clearly established by the conduct of the State of Utah and the memorandum of the agreement between the State of Utah and the Golden Spikers.

The State of Utah strenuously argues that Exhibit 1P was not a binding contract between the State of Utah and the Golden Spikers because it was not signed by the Golden

Spikers. However, the conduct of the representatives of the State of Utah clearly established that the State acquiesced and accepted the Golden Spikers' performance of its obligations under Exhibit 1P. In the absence of a statute requiring a signature or an agreement that a contract shall not be binding until it is signed, parties may become bound by the terms of a contract, even though they do not sign it, where their ascent is otherwise indicated, such as by the acceptance of benefits under the contract (17 Am Jur 2d Contracts, Section 70).

Although a written contract was not finalized in the sense that there was no evidence that the Golden Spikers had signed the written Lease Agreement (Exhibit 1P) prepared and signed by William G. Gibbs of the Attorney General's Office and signed by Mr. Bringhurst and Mr. Weilenmann, the testimony of Mr. Bringhurst that Exhibit 1P was a final agreement to his satisfaction, the circumstances, and the conduct and the acts of Mr. Weilenmann, Mr. Bringhurst, and the Attorney General's Office clearly show that an express agreement was reached between the State of Utah and the Golden Spikers whereby the Golden Spikers were awarded a contract to install the soccer field at the State Fairgrounds.

A contract implied, in fact, is an agreement which depends for its existence on some act or conduct of the

parties sought to be charged, and arises by inference or implication from circumstances which, according to the ordinary course of dealing and the common understanding of men, show a mutual intention by the parties to contract with each other. (Ross v. Raymen, 32 Wash. 2d 128, 201 P.2d 129).

This Court held that the doctrine of estoppel may be applied to governmental agencies in the case of Rice v. Granite School District, 23 Utah 2d 22, 456 P.2d 159 (1969), wherein this Court cited, with approval, language from a State of Washington Supreme Court Decision, which stated:

"The modern trend in both legislative and judicial thinking is towards the concept that the citizen has a right to expect the same standard of honesty, justice, and fair dealing in his contact with the State or other political entity, which he is legally accorded in his dealings with other individuals..." (emphasis added)

Mr. Weilenmann testified that he did not discuss with the Utah Golden Spikers posting a bond to guarantee payment to subcontractors for the installation of the soccer field at the State Fairgrounds, and both Mr. Weilenmann and Mr. Bringhurst testified that it did not concern them that private contractors were doing work on the State Fairgrounds with no assurance of payment. Further, during the period of time that Plaintiff and other subcontractors were doing work at the State Fairgrounds, both Mr. Weilenmann and Mr.

Bringhurst knew that the Golden Spikers had not been able to pay the electrical contractor, and in spite of having this knowledge, they failed to inform the subcontractors that they may not be paid. Had Mr. Bringhurst or Mr. Weilenmann informed the Plaintiff that it may not be paid for the work it was doing at the State Fairgrounds, Plaintiff could have taken action to prevent its loss.

"...An estoppel may arise although there was no designed fraud on the part of the person sought to be estopped. To create an estoppel, it is enough if the party has been induced to refrain from using such means or taking such action as lay in his power, by which he may have retrieved his position and saved himself from loss."
(Rice v. Granite School District, supra.)

Under the facts of this case and the standard set forth in Rice above, the State of Utah should be estopped to assert that a contract or installation of the soccer field at the State Fairgrounds was not awarded to the Golden Spikers within the meaning of Section 14-1-5, Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended. (See Annotation: Estoppel-Governmental Bodies, 1 ALR3d 338 and Estoppel Against Federal Government, 27 ALR Fed. 702.)

The Appellant-State of Utah also asserts in its Brief that the State of Utah is not liable under the Bonding Statute or on a theory of unjust enrichment because the Division of Expositions and the Department of Developmental

Services did not have the authority to bind the State for the purchase of services and supplies since such power is vested with the Director of Finance, pursuant to Section 63-3-23, Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended. The Appellant-State of Utah also asserts in its Brief that the State of Utah is not liable under the Bonding Statute because the Division of Expositions and the Department of Developmental Services failed to comply with the requirements of Section 64-1-4, Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended.

The facts involved in this case simply do not support the Appellant-State of Utah's position. The foregoing statutes contemplate expenditures by the State and provide a system of accountability for State expenditures, and a method to control such expenditures. In the instant case, there is absolutely no evidence that the State of Utah was obligated to make expenditures under its agreement with the Golden Spikers. To the contrary, under its agreement with the Golden Spikers, the State of Utah contemplated receiving an income had its venture with the Golden Spikers been successful. The Judgment of the Trial Court does not represent unauthorized expenditures for services and supplies, it represents a liability imposed against the State of Utah as a result of its failure to obtain the delivery of a

payment bond from the Golden Spikers as required by Section 14-1-5, Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended.

Subcontractors, such as the Plaintiff, do not have mechanics' lien rights against public buildings and improvements, and in lieu of this right and to protect subcontractors such as the Plaintiff, the legislature of this State has enacted the Public Contracts Statute. The purpose of the statute requiring delivery of a payment bond is to provide the same protection to laborers and materialmen on public works as is provided to those involved in private contracts (Flynn v. W. P. Harlin Construction Company, 559 P.2d 356, 29 U.2d 327, 1973). The statute is highly remedial for the benefit of and to provide security for all persons furnishing labor and materials on public works (Campbell Bldg. Co. v. District Court of Millard County, 90 U. 552, 63 P.2d 255, 119 ALR 250).

Statutes and ordinances requiring contractors to give bonds have usually been, and should be, given a liberal construction so as to carry out the legislative intent and to effect the purpose contemplated by the law (17 Am Jur 2d Contractors' Bond, Section 46, page 225).

The transaction between the State of Utah and the Golden Spikers was not a situation where the State of Utah was involved in a purely governmental function, such as

furthering and exercising its powers of health, police, and safety. In its transaction with the Golden Spikers, the State was in effect entering into a business venture with the purpose of generating income. Under the facts of this case, the State should be held to the same standard of honesty and fair dealing as are private citizens, and Plaintiff should be afforded the protection that the legislature intended to affect with the Public Bonding Statute.

POINT II

UNDER THE FACTS OF THIS CASE, IT WAS APPROPRIATE FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO FIND THE STATE OF UTAH LIABLE TO THE PLAINTIFF UNDER QUANTUM MERUIT.

The Trial Court found that during the time that Plaintiff was supplying labor and materials in connection with the improvements being made upon the State Fairgrounds, the State of Utah had full knowledge that such work was being performed and consented to and accepted the improvements with full knowledge that Plaintiff expected to be paid for the labor and materials supplied in connection with making said improvements. The Trial Court also found that the State of Utah had not paid the Golden Spikers, or any other person, for the improvements made at the State Fairgrounds by Plaintiff, and that the State of Utah has accepted and been benefitted by the value of such improvements

at Plaintiff's expense. Further, the Trial Court found the reasonable value of the labor and materials supplied by Plaintiff in connection with the improvements installed at the State Fairgrounds was Eleven Thousand Eight Hundred Seventy-Four Dollars and 49/100 (\$11,874.49) (Findings, R.34,35).

The fact that Plaintiff did not have a contract with the State of Utah and was not in privity of contract with the State of Utah, does not preclude the Judgment of the Trial Court being affirmed on the basis of implied contract and unjust enrichment.

"Where a materialman or subcontractor furnishes labor or materials which benefit the property of a person with whom there is no privity of contract, an action on quantum meruit may lie against the land owner to recover the reasonable value of such labor and materials so furnished where the essential elements of quasi contract are present, the most significant being that the enrichment to the Defendant is unjust." (66 Am Jur 2d, Restitution and Implied Contracts, Section 16, page 960.)

The principal set forth above that a subcontractor may recover the reasonable value of labor and materials from a property owner where the essential elements of quasi contract are present is also the subject of an ALR Annotation, which states:

"...In most instances in which the Courts have carefully analyzed the problems presented

by such a claimed cause of action, they have generally concluded, first, that the fact of lack of privity as between the subcontractor and the land owner should not, in and of itself, be determinative of the subcontractor's right to recovery; secondly, and as sort of a corollary to the first conclusion, that quasi contract may be the, or an, appropriate form of action for presentation of the subcontractor's claim; and thirdly, that determination for or against recovery under such an asserted cause of action is dependent essentially upon whether or not the facts disclosed by the evidence in each particular case are sufficient to establish that the land owner was, in fact, unjustly enriched at the loss and expense of the subcontractor."

"In resolving such issue of unjust enrichment, the Courts have generally looked to what they consider to be the 'equities' in each case." (Annotation: Subcontractor's Recovery Against Owner, 62 ALR 3d, Section 3, page 294.)

The facts before the Court in this matter clearly show that the State of Utah (land owner) has been unjustly enriched at the expense of the Plaintiff. The State of Utah had full knowledge the Plaintiff was supplying materials and labor for the construction of improvements at the State Fairgrounds, and the State of Utah consented to and accepted the improvements with full knowledge that Plaintiff expected to be paid for the labor and materials. Also, the State of Utah has accepted and been benefitted by the value of the labor and materials, and the State of Utah has not paid the Golden Spikers, or any other person, for the value of the

labor and materials supplied by the Plaintiff. The 'equities' clearly show that the State of Utah has been unjustly enriched at the expense of the Plaintiff.

The State of Utah contends that it has not received a benefit in an "economic manner" as a result of the labor and materials furnished by the Plaintiff at the State Fairgrounds. However, the fact remains that Mr. Bringhurst testified that the parking lot had, in fact, been a benefit to the State of Utah and was used by the State of Utah; the State of Utah has in its possession Four Thousand Six Hundred Twenty-Five Dollars and 25/100 (\$4,625.25) of Plaintiff's topsoil and Two Thousand Five Hundred Eighty-Seven Dollars and 20/100 (\$2,587.20) of Plaintiff's fill material, together with the value of Plaintiff's other labor and materials used in connection with the installation of the soccer field at the State Fairgrounds.

Although the above references involve transactions between private individuals, recovery based upon unjust enrichment and quantum meruit has been applied to governmental bodies. In Wilson v. Salt Lake City, 174 P 847 (1918), this Court held that a contractor could recover against Salt Lake City for the reasonable value of work performed by the contractor, even though the work performed by the contractor was not performed under the written

contract and was totally outside of the written contract since the City representatives had demanded that such work be performed and had accepted the benefit of the work.

Some jurisdictions have allowed suppliers and contractors to recover against governmental bodies on the basis of quantum meruit for the reasonable value of labor and materials used in public works, even though competitive bidding statutes were not complied with (Capital Bridge Co. v. Saunders County, 164 Neb. 304, 83 NW2d 18 (1957), Green v. Okanogan County, 60 Wash. 309, 111 P 226 (1910).

Jurisdictions that have allowed recovery against a governmental body based on unjust enrichment and quantum meruit have generally looked at the immediate fact situation and based their decisions upon considerations of the equities, the most compelling equity being that a governmental body, in fairness and justice, should pay the reasonable value of benefits received and accepted by it (Annotation: Implied Public Contracts, 154 ALR 358; Annotation: Municipality-Quasi Contract Liability, 33 ALR3d 1164).

CONCLUSION

The Trial Court in this case entered its Judgment against the State of Utah based upon the State's neglect

and failure to obtain delivery of a payment bond as required by 14-1-7, Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended. Also, the Trial Court based its Judgment on quantum meruit because it found that the State had knowingly received, accepted, and been benefitted by Plaintiff's labor and materials, thus unjustly enriching the State at the expense of the Plaintiff.

The Judgment of the Trial Court in no manner negates or compromises the statutes of the State intended to control expenditure of State funds. The liability which the Judgment imposes upon the State does not result from the State's failure to comply with the expenditure statutes, it results from the State's failure to require a payment bond, for which such failure the legislature has provided a remedy.

An affirmance of the Trial Court's Judgment will reaffirm a standard previously espoused by this Court, that is, the State should be held to the same standard of honesty, justice, and fair dealing as are its citizens--especially should this be true where the State, as here, engages in business ventures for profit.

The Judgment of the Trial Court should be affirmed.